1983

Flying Diamond Oil Corporation, Formerly  
Known as Flying Diamond Corporation, a Utah  
Corporation v. Newton Sheep Company, a Limited  
Partnership; Ralph M. Newton, Eugene B. Newton  
And Scott F. Newton, General Partners; And  
Eugene B. Newton, Individually, And Edna Elliott  
Newton, His Wife : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

The owner of a severed oil and gas title covenanted to pay the surface owner amounts equal to 2 1/2% of the value of the oil and gas produced from the property, the covenant being made in consideration of the surface owner's grant of oil and gas operating easements; the case involves conflicting claims upon the benefit of the covenant.



## DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The lower court decreed that the defendant-respondent parties are entitled to specified fractions of the "moneys paid heretofore and hereafter" by reason of the covenant, and granted them money judgments against appellant for past payments made to appellant by the oil and gas owner.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks vacation of the lower court's judgment, and a remand with directions for entry of a judgment declaring that appellant holds the entire benefit of the covenant and its proceeds.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### Preliminary Statement

This appeal is taken from the adjudication of one count of a five-count complaint. The complaint, filed by appellant Flying Diamond Oil Corporation ("Flying Diamond") seeks declaratory relief to construe a contract covering its purchase of a sheep ranch property from the respondent Newton parties ("the Newtons"). Respondent Bass Enterprises Production Company ("Bass") intervened as to Count I only. By agreement of the parties and upon the trial court's order, Count I was bifurcated and tried separately. The other counts remain pending in the court below.

In Count I Flying Diamond seeks a declaratory judgment that, notwithstanding the Newtons' contrary demands, Flying Diamond is entitled to all benefits of a covenant made by Champlin Petroleum Company ("Champlin") to make payments equal to 2 1/2% of the value of oil and gas production from certain sections of the ranch property. Flying Diamond, the owner of the surface, claims ownership of the covenant benefits as successor surface owner in accordance with the terms of the Surface Owner's Agreement in which the covenant was made. By counterclaim and cross-claim, the Newtons and Bass assert fractional interests in the covenant and the payments by virtue of royalty conveyances made before Flying Diamond acquired its surface ownership.

The appeal requires the construction of three conveyances. The factual title history is not disputed, and the summary in this brief refers to the Clerk's record with the notation "R\_\_\_\_\_." The summary of the trial evidence is supported by reference to the reporter's transcript, shown below as "Tr\_\_\_\_\_." (Throughout the transcript, the word "surface" appears as "service"; it is believed that formal corrections are not necessary as the intention of the speaker is clear enough from the context).

#### General Title Chronology

The conveyances requiring construction are the Surface Owner's Agreement (dated in 1971) which created the 2 1/2%

covenant interest, a mineral Deed (1972), and a Ranch Purchase Contract (1974). Each of these affects the mineral or surface title to the former Newton Sheep Ranch, a property of about 20,000 acres situated in Summit County.

About half of the Ranch consists of "railroad" sections. These, typically, are the odd-numbered sections which were patented to Union Pacific Railroad Company under the congressional land grants in aid of railroad construction. The history of those railroad sections involved in this case is that Union Pacific sold the surface to ranchers, retained the minerals thereunder, and later transferred the oil and gas title to Champlin, its oil and gas subsidiary (R 278). The even-numbered sections comprising the balance of the Ranch are the so-called "fee" sections (about 9,300 acres) and in these, typically, the rancher held both the surface and the mineral title.

For some years before the execution of the Surface Owner's Agreement, the surface title to the Ranch was held by Hyrum J. Newton & Sons Sheep Company (the "Newton Company"). The Newton Company also held the mineral title in the fee sections. The severed oil and gas title in the railroad sections was held by Champlin (R 278). The Surface Owner's Agreement, executed in September 1971 between the Newton Company and Champlin, covered six of the railroad sections (R 278-9; Exh. 1 at R 285).

Later in 1971 the Newton Company's interest in the Ranch was transferred to a family limited partnership, appellant Newton Sheep Company ("Newton Sheep") (R 279).

A transaction in February 1972 between Newton Sheep and Bass resulted in execution of a Deed conveying to Bass one half of the minerals in the fee lands, and one half of any royalty to which Newton Sheep was entitled in the railroad sections (R 279; Exh. 2 at R 293).

In 1974, Flying Diamond bought a major part of the Ranch from Newton Sheep under the Ranch Purchase Contract (R 279; Exh. 3 at R 298). As to the portion so acquired, the Contract granted to Flying Diamond the full surface title, one-half of any mineral rights still held in the fee lands, and one-half the royalty owned by Newton Sheep in the railroad sections.

After Flying Diamond's ranch acquisition, oil and gas discoveries were made by Champlin within certain of the railroad sections which are subject to all three coveyances: the Surface Owner's Agreement, the Newton-Bass Deed, and the Ranch Purchase Contract (R 279).

Flying Diamond acquired the Ranch surface in 1974, before any oil discovery, and since the beginning of production Champlin has remitted to Flying Diamond monthly cash payments equal to 2 1/2% of oil and gas sales proceeds (R 279), and continues to do so. (Pursuant to agreement among the parties, Flying Diamond is forwarding three-fourths of the monthly remittances, as they are received, to be held by an escrow agent until the case is resolved).

A summary of the conveyances follows:

Surface Owner's Agreement, dated September 24, 1971, between the Newton Company, as Land Owner, and Champlin (Exh. 1 at R 476-83). By this agreement, the Land Owner grants to Champlin easements to enter upon the surface, to drill, and to maintain specified surface "facilities" convenient to Champlin's oil and gas operations. In consideration, Champlin covenants (1) to make payments in cash equal to 2 1/2% of the value of oil and gas produced and marketed; (2) to pay rentals measured by the agricultural value of such surface as may be taken up in related unit operations; and (3) to pay for all damages to the surface and improvements. The agreement provides that no other payments shall be due the surface owner.

Section 7 provides that the three payment covenants are covenants "running with the surface ownership"; that they shall not be held, or transferred, separately from the surface ownership; and that the payments will be paid to the person or persons owning the surface at the time an individual payment becomes due, and to the subsequent surface owners, upon a title showing. Section 8 provides that the surface easements are appurtenant to the mineral title, and will bind the surface and all present and future surface owners. The agreement has an indefinite term, typical in oil and gas conveyancing: one year and so long thereafter as the oil and gas title is committed to a lease or a unit, or so long as production or operations continue. The agreement is assignable, subject, however, to

the Section 7 provisions stating that the payment covenants are inseparable from the surface ownership.

The inseparability provisions of Section 7 are quoted and analyzed in Point I(b) of the Argument below. A copy of the Surface Owner's Agreement is included in this brief as Appendix A.

Deed, dated February 1, 1972, made by Newton Sheep, as Grantor, to Bass, as Grantee (Exh. 2 at R 484-8). Subparagraph A.1. of the Deed grants a one-half interest in the oil, gas and other minerals in specifically described "fee lands" (9,316 acres); Subparagraph A.2., a catch-all clause, grants a like mineral interest in all of Grantor's fee lands within all affected townships. Subparagraph B.1., covering the railroad sections, conveys to Grantee ". . . one-half of the royalty (of any type) from production of minerals that the Grantor actually receives or is entitled to receive . . ." from the "Union Pacific Railroad Company Lands" (10,003 acres). Other provisions create for Bass a first right of purchase, a covenant of further assurances, and a warranty of title. Newton Sheep also makes two specific warranties concerning the so-called royalty interest which are discussed below.

A copy of the Deed is included as Appendix B.

The Newton Ranch Purchase Contract, dated April 12, 1974, made between Newton Sheep, as Seller, and Flying Diamond, as Buyer (Exh. 3 at R 489-520). By the Contract, Flying Diamond acquired a warranted "full" surface title, one-half of

the oil, gas and other minerals then owned by Seller in the fee lands, and one-half of the "royalty (of any type)" in the railroad lands to which Seller is entitled. Newton Sheep also makes the same two specific warranties concerning the royalty interest as were set out in the Bass Deed.

#### Proceedings

Before trial, Flying Diamond moved for partial summary judgment based on the theory that the Surface Owner's Agreement operates to vest all rights in the 2 1/2% easement payment covenant in Flying Diamond, as successor surface owner, as a matter of law. Bass also made a motion for summary judgment, its theory being that the Deed's grant to Bass of one-half of the "royalty (of any type)" in the railroad lands was a grant of one half of the 2 1/2% covenant interest. Both motions were denied.

At trial, over Flying Diamond's objection, Bass and the Newtons introduced evidence to support their contention that the "royalty (of any type)" language in the Deed was intended to operate as a grant to Bass, and a reservation to Newton Sheep, of one-half each of the 2 1/2% covenant. William Collister, a Denver attorney retained by Bass to prepare the Deed, testified by deposition that subparagraph I.B. was intended to cover the royalty from production from the Union Pacific lands (Deposition of Collister (R 527), p. 21, line 25 - p. 22, line 30), royalty meaning, in his use of the phrase, "the two and a half percent royalty in the surface owners

agreement." (Deposition, p. 22, lines 24-25); see Tr 89 (introduction of Collister deposition at trial).

Mr. Collister further testified that he felt the words of grant in the Deed were sufficient to convey property in Utah (Deposition, p. 34) and that: "And my deed paragraph A conveys minerals and paragraph B conveys royalty. And there is a distinction" (p. 49, lines 6-7). Asked whether those two basic kinds of interests (mineral and royalty) included all kinds, the witness said "No, there are other things in existence clearly. The contractual right to receive monies, you know." (p. 49, lines 22-24).

With respect to the subject of a claimed estoppel of Flying Diamond, Scott Newton and Ralph Newton, general partners of Newton Sheep, testified that in the discussions preceding the sale of the Ranch in 1974, they advised Flying Diamond of Newton Sheep's earlier sale of one-half of the 2 1/2% payable in the railroad sections (Tr 64, 80) and that, having sold one-half to Bass, they (Flying Diamond) "would take a quarter of what was left of the half, and we would keep a quarter." (Tr 65)

Without waiving its earlier objection to all extrinsic evidence, Flying Diamond introduced the deposition testimony of the Land Manager of Champlin (Robert Lagerstrom) (Tr 90, R 528) about the purpose of the Surface Owner's Agreement:

What we told the landowners was what we took to be the purpose. It was to obtain their cooperation, to keep their goodwill, to prevent any disputes which might arise from uses that someone might consider beyond the scope of our reservation, and to provide a reasonable compensation to the landowner for his cooperation. (Deposition of Lagerstrom, p. 21.)



As to Section 7, the witness stated the following:

To assure that the benefits provided under the agreement would continue to be paid to the owner of the surface, so that Champlin or Union Pacific as the owner of the minerals would continue to have a contact with that surface owner. (Deposition of Saterstrom, p. 24.)

The trial exhibits show that when Newton Sheep was formed in 1971 and received its deed to the Ranch, it so advised Champlin, and that Champlin accepted the copy of the deed as sufficient for purposes of the Surface Owner's Agreement (Exh. 10 at R 523). On December 21, 1971, Champlin clarified its earlier letter by advising Newton Sheep that (Plaintiff's Exh. 9 at R 521) (emphasis added):

In order to clarify any possible confusion regarding the statement quoted above from our letter of December 7th, please be advised that payment of 2 1/2% of the value of production, if production is ever obtained, will be made to Newton Sheep Company only as long as Newton Sheep Company is the current land owner.

As indicated in our letter of December 7th and as recited in Section 7 of the Surface Owner's Agreement, the covenants of the Surface Owner's Agreement run with the surface ownership of the described premises. Therefore, if lands under production which are covered by this subject agreement was ever conveyed by Newton Sheep Company, then of course, Champlin's obligation to pay the 2 1/2% of the value of each production would, upon sufficient notice to Champlin, transfer to the new surface owner.

Plaintiff's Exh. 20 (R 524) shows that, while Bass was negotiating the Deed transaction with Newton Sheep, Bass was advised by James Wallace (Bass's agent) that "as long as they [Newton Sheep] own the surface they will receive 2 1/2% in the form of royalty which figures 128 mineral acres per section." (Emphasis added).

The lower court ruled in favor of the Bass-Newton parties. Its findings are, essentially, that the conveyancing intent of all parties was to acquire or reserve fractions of the "2 1/2% payment" (that being the term used in the Findings to mean the Section 2 payment interest (R 427)) and the conclusions are that the conveyances had that legal effect (R 429). The court also concluded that Flying Diamond was estopped, and that the Bass-Newton parties were not (R 429). Flying Diamond, as directed, submitted an accounting showing the payments made to it by Champlin. The court then entered the Final Judgment, which decrees that the Newtons are entitled to one-fourth, Bass is entitled to one-half, and Flying Diamond is entitled to one-fourth ". . . of the moneys paid heretofore and hereafter by Champlin under Section 2 of the Agreement," and which grants recovery from Flying Diamond of the respective fractional portions of the monies paid (R 460-463). The judgment also contains the court's express determination of finality required for appeal by Utah R. Civ. P. 54.

#### ARGUMENT

Point I. The 2 1/2% easement payment covenant, and the payments thereunder, are inseparable from the surface ownership because the Surface Owner's Agreement so operates as a matter of law, as appears from:

- (a) the recitals and legal background;
- (b) the provisions of the Agreement; and
- (c) the applicable rules of law.

(a) Recitals and legal background.

The purpose of the Surface Owner's Agreement is best seen against the background of its formal preliminary recitals and the general law those recitals invoke. The recitals are: that the Newton Company owns the described property subject to a prior reservation of the minerals by Union Pacific Railroad Company; that Champlin has succeeded to the ownership of the oil and gas title; and that Champlin proposes entry upon the surface by it or its lessee for oil and gas purposes.

This recital of the earlier severance of the mineral title from the surface title invokes the general legal consequence that severance vests some right of surface use in the mineral owner, either express or implied. This Court has stated the general relationship of the respective rights to be as follows:

The general rule which is approved by all jurisdictions that have considered the matter is that the ownership (or rights of a lessee) of mineral rights in land is dominant over the rights of the owner of the fee to the extent reasonably necessary to extract the minerals therefrom. This dominance is limited in that the mineral owner may exercise that right only as reasonably necessary for that purpose and consistent with allowing the fee owner the greatest possible use of his property consistent therewith.

Flying Diamond v. Rust, 551 P.2d 509, 511 (Utah 1976)

(citations omitted).

Some potential for disagreement between the respective owners as to what is reasonably necessary is inherent in this situation, and this subject is treated in a recent, lengthy

annotation, Oil and Gas - Necessary Use of Surface, 53 A.L.R.3d 16, 16-174. The introduction states (53 A.L.R.3d at 24):

This annotation deals with some aspects of the "age-old battle between a surface owner and mineral owner as to their respective rights" in the surface of the premises embraced by the mineral lease. Of all questions that beset the lessee-lessor relationship, none surpasses that of surface user and the resulting surface damages; thus, there is a "voluminous reservoir of law concerning the use of the surface by a lessee under the terms of an oil and gas lease." [Citations omitted].

The annotator analyzes many cases deciding whether a particular surface use by the oil and gas operator is actionable, as being not reasonably necessary in the circumstances. Flying Diamond Corp. v. Rust, 551 P.2d 509 (Utah 1976), cited above, illustrates the problem and is discussed in the annotation (p. 4, Pocket Supp. 1982).

A footnote to the annotation (53 A.L.R.3d at 25, n.10) quotes Brimmer, The Rancher's Subservient Surface Estate, 5 Land and Water L. Rev. 49, 50 (1970), about the practicalities of the surface-mineral conflict:

The same writer has humorously pointed out that "if the meadows were wet and now badly rutted, and his mineral interest is nil anyway, then quicker than can be muttered 'Application for Temporary Injunction,' the client will demand the balm of instant legal redress and damages as an alternative to his itchy shotgun trigger finger."

The persuasive power of surface occupiers' itchy trigger fingers may be seen in the fact that they have been able in many areas to obtain compensation for surface or "location" damages which they well may not have had legal right to recover, but which have been paid by oil and gas producers as a matter of policy. . . .

Before the Surface Owner's Agreement was entered into, the relationship of the respective surface rights of the owners of the mineral and surface estates in the Newton Sheep Ranch held the potential difficulties discussed in the annotation. The Agreement was written against that general legal background. The testimony of Champlin's veteran land manager about the general purpose of the Agreement, and the purpose of the inseparability provisions, quoted above, show that the practical business objective is to obviate problems of the kind detailed in the cited annotation, on a continuing basis.

The essence of the Agreement lies in the inseparability provisions, the exchanged promises of the Newton Company and Champlin that during the term of the Agreement the payment covenants will not be separated from the surface ownership. If the Newton Company's inseparability promises could be ignored unilaterally, the relation between the surface and mineral estates would revert to what it was before the Agreement was signed. The Agreement's purpose would be thwarted.

- (b) The provisions of Surface Owner's Agreement determine the inseparability of the payment covenants and the monies payable thereunder as a matter of law.

The Surface Owner's Agreement provides, as clearly as language can convey meaning, that the surface payment covenants, and the proceeds, can not be separated from the surface ownership.

Section 7 states the parties' agreement concerning ". . . the covenants to pay the sums provided in Sections 2, 3, and 5 hereof [i.e., all three payment covenants]" as follows:

Such covenants ". . . shall be covenants running with the surface ownership";

The covenants ". . . shall not be held . . . separately [from the surface ownership]";

The covenants ". . . shall not be . . . transferred separately [from the surface ownership]"; and

". . . any sums payable under this Agreement shall be paid to the person or persons owning the surface of the described premises as of the date the oil and gas or associated liquid hydrocarbon production is marketed;" a "subsequent purchaser of the described premises" is entitled to the payments upon showing a chain of title to "such ownership."

(Emphasis added).

Apart from this language, other specially drafted provisions reinforce the agreed inseparability. These are:

(1) The successors-and-assigns provision. Section 10 permits either party to assign the agreement; its benefits and burdens extend to successors and assigns. This standard provision, however, is here expressly agreed to be "[s]ubject to the provisions of Section 7."

Section 7 states the inseparability provisions. The surface ownership and the covenants thus are transferrable, but only simultaneously and only to the same successor owner. Section 10 also precludes the separated transfer the Bass-Newton parties say they attempted.

(2) Identical handling of all payment covenants.

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