1983

Flying Diamond Oil Corporation, Formerly Known as Flying Diamond Corporation, a Utah Corporation v. Newton Sheep Company, a Limited Partnership; Ralph M. Newton, Eugene B. Newton And Scott F. Newton, General Partners; And Eugene B. Newton, Individually, And Edna Elliott Newton, His Wife : Brief of Respondent Newton Sheep Company, Et Al.

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

The definition clearly fits the 2 1/2 percent payment in the instant case. On page 660 of the same work, a royalty deed is defined as:

An instrument in writing conveying a ROYALTY INTEREST (q.v.). The instrument must name the grantor and the grantee, describe the land, give the size of the interest, and contain the signature of the grantor.

Thus, the instrument between Newton and Bass was a royalty deed conveying a royalty interest, to-wit: one-half of the 2 1/2 percent right to payment from the production of oil and gas. In 1 Williams & Meyers Oil and Gas Law, § 301, the authors discuss the various definitional terms applicable to oil and gas matters. With reference to a royalty interest, it is said that it is "a right only to receive a certain part of the oil produced * * * free of exploration and production costs." p. 440. On page 445, the term "royalty interest" is explained:

Owner has right to receive a certain part of the oil or gas, as, if and when produced, free of costs of production; has no rights to develop or lease.

Further, in 8 Williams & Meyers Oil and Gas Manual of Terms, p. 473, the definition of non-participating royalty is equally applicable to the 2 1/2 percent interest in this case.

Recently, this court in Bennion v. Utah State Board of Oil, Gas and Mining, ___ P.2d ___ (Utah, Nov. 4, 1983), considered the interest of the plaintiff as a non-consenting mineral owner under the pooling provisions of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act. In discussing the interests at one point the court notes that Shell Oil Company characterized its payment concession as a "voluntary payment" and at another point the term royalty interest is utilized and payment from production. The implication from the case is that the terminology is not settled and what is important is the substance that is conveyed. See also, Martin v. Glass, 571 F.Supp. 1406 (D.C. N.D. Tex. 1983). The deed contained all the necessary legal prerequisites to transfer one-half of the 2 1/2 percent interest and, therefore, accomplished the intention of the parties. Nor can Flying Diamond, as a stranger to the contract, attack its terms and effect if the interest conveyed was otherwise alienable. § 70A-2-107(1), Utah Code Ann. 1953, is relevant to this issue.

(1) A contract for the sale of minerals or the like (including oil or gas) or a structure or its materials to be removed from realty is a contract for the sale of goods within this chapter if they are to be severed by the seller but until

severance a purported present sale thereof which is not effective as a transfer of an interest in land is effective only as a contract to sell.

This definition highlights the distinction between mineral interests and royalty interest and further emphasizes the fact that a production payment of royalty interest after severance is personalty and fully transferable. In Hartman v. Potter, 596 P.2d 653, 656 (Utah 1979), this Court observed: "Minerals in place may be severed from the land, and when so severed they become separate and distinct estates, held in separate and distinct titles." Therefore, there was no prohibition in the transfer of one-half of the 2 1/2 percent Newton made to Bass simply because of the definition of terms or the characterization of the interest was a "royalty".

The real question is whether the provisions of Section 7 of the Surface Agreement would act to, in any way, prevent Newton from transferring to Bass Newton's right to receive payment. The Restatement of Contracts, 2d, § 322, deals with a contractual prohibition against assignment. It states:

(1) Unless the circumstances indicate the contrary, a contract term prohibiting assignment of 'the contract' bars only the delegation to an assignee of the performance by the assignor of a duty or condition.

(2) A contract term prohibiting assignment of rights under the contract, unless a different intention is manifested, . . .

(b) gives the obligor a right to damages for breach of the terms forbidding assignment but does not render the assignment ineffective;

(c) is for the benefit of the obligor, and does not prevent the assignee from acquiring rights against the assignor or the obligor from discharging his duty as if there were no such prohibition.

Further, Section 321 of the same work recognizes that an assignment of future rights is effective in the same way as an assignment of an existing writing. Applying these sections to the facts of the instant case it is apparent that the transfer from Newton to Bass was a proper and legal transfer. The transfer to Bass in no way increased the burden of obligation on Champlin. It did not by delegation impose on Bass any duty or condition that was due to Champlin by Newton. There was nothing personal that either Newton or Bass had to perform with reference to Champlin. The assignment was simply an assignment of a right to future payment and under such circumstances could be validly assigned to the assignee without impairing the position of the obligor. The legality of the assignment is not affected and the only person who can complain would be Champlin who would have a right for damages if any were incurred. Since it has not been affected by the assignment it has incurred no damages and the transfer of one-half in the 2 1/2 percent payment from Newton to Bass cannot be challenged. The trial court, therefore, acted properly in finding a legitimate assignment of a one-half interest in the 2 1/2 percent from Newton to Bass.

Finally, it should be noted that the trial court's construction and interpretation of the Newton/Bass transfer and the Newton/Flying Diamond contract was in keeping with the only practical construction of the various instruments. In the Newton/Bass transfer Newton, which possessed the 2 1/2 percent interest gave up one-half of that amount. This left a one-half interest in the 2 1/2 percent interest remaining in Newton. The effect of the transfer under the Newton/Flying Diamond Ranch Contract was to transfer one-half of the remaining one-half leaving Newton with a one-quarter interest in the 2 1/2 percent and Flying Diamond receiving the same. In Hartman v. Potter, supra, this Court gave a similar construction to various deeds transferring interests in oil, gas and minerals.

POINT III

APPELLANTS ARE ESTOPPED FROM CONTENDING THAT THEY ARE ENTITLED TO THE FULL 2 1/2 PERCENT PAYMENT.

When Newton entered into the Ranch Purchase Contract with Flying Diamond on April 12, 1974 (R. 489), the Surface Agreement with Champlin and Newton was on file as was the Newton/Bass deed (R. 484). Further, Flying Diamond was expressly made aware of both the purpose of the Bass/Newton deed and the desire of Newton to retain 1/2 of their remaining entitlement to the 2 1/2 percent royalty interest (T. 61-65).

Flying Diamond then drafted the Ranch Purchase Contract. The contract expressly referenced the intention of Newton in paragraph 2 (R. 493) by providing "one half of the royalty (of any type) from the production of minerals that the seller actually received or is entitled to receive from the property . . . until January 1, 2073" was conveyed leaving Newton the remaining 1/2 or 1/4 of 2 1/2 percent. That language is virtually identical with the language in the Bass/Newton deed (R. 485). Thus, the clear purpose of the Flying Diamond contract was to accommodate the interests of all concerned to the 2 1/2 percent as divided. The trial court so found (R. 478) and concluded as a matter of law that Flying Diamond "is estopped to deny that it has only a one-fourth interest in the 2 1/2 percent payment." (R. 429).

It is submitted that this conclusion is clearly correct for three reasons:

First: Flying Diamond drafted the Ranch Purchase Contract. Under such circumstances the instrument is to be construed against Flying Diamond as the party drafting the instrument. Wells Fargo Bank N.A. v. Midwest Realty & Finance, Inc., 544 P.2d 882 (Utah 1975); Wingets, Inc. v. Bitters, 28 Utah 2d 231, 500 P.2d 1007 (1972); Matter of Orr's Estate, 622 P.2d 337 (Utah 1980). Further, such a construction comports with the intention of the parties when all documents are

construed together. Hartman v. Potter, 596 P.2d 653 (Utah 1979); Chourros v. D'Agnillo, 642 P.2d 710 (Utah 1982).

Second: Flying Diamond may not by its action both claim under the contract and at the same time claim it is not bound by its terms. It is recognized that a grantee (Flying Diamond) may be estopped by equitable considerations. 28 Am. Jur. 2d, Estoppel & Waiver § 13. It was recognized in Page v. Fees-Kreg, Inc., 617 P.2d 1188 (Colo. 1980); Hess v. Seeger, 55 Or. App. 746, 641 P.2d 23 (1981); that ordinarily a party (or contract purchaser) cannot claim under an instrument without affirming it. A party may, by his subsequent conduct, be estopped to claim estoppel or other prior benefit. Utah State Building & Loan Assn. v. Perkins, 53 Utah 474, 173 P. 950 (Utah 1918). Flying Diamond being fully aware of the circumstances cannot now claim the 2 1/2 percent. Flying Diamond drafted the contract to accommodate Newton who insisted on retaining their 1/4 percent. Without the specific terms in the Ranch Contract Newton would not close the deal, and most probably would have required a more direct novation or release from Flying Diamond of any claim to the 2 1/2 percent payment beyond that specifically contained in the Ranch Contract. The evidence supports the conclusion that Newton relied on Flying Diamond for the express recognition of their interest as well as that of Bass. As this court noted in Rodgers v. Hansen, 580 P.2d

233 (Utah 1978) generally one is not permitted in a court of justice to take advantage of or claim protection by reason of his own wrong. See Provo City v. Cropper, 28 Utah 2d 1, 497 P.2d 629 (1972); McFarland's Estate v. Holt, 18 Utah 2d 127, 417 P.2d 244 (1966); Feese v. Siegel's Estate, 534 P.2d 85 (Utah 1975); Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369 (Utah 1980). The circumstances fully support the application of equitable estoppel against Flying Diamond.

Third, whatever claims that Flying Diamond may have been entitled to assert to the 2 1/2 percent payment provided for in the Surface Agreement have now merged into the Ranch Purchase Contract to which Flying Diamond agreed. Flying Diamond was aware of the Surface Agreement and claims of Newton & Bass in regard to the 2 1/2 percent interest. Still Flying Diamond entered into negotiations with Newton for the Ranch property and a limited mineral interest. Therefore, whatever claims they had to the 2 1/2 percent, because of any prior instrument, they compromised such claim and merged all terms of their interest into the Ranch Contract. Rasmussen v. Olsen, 583 P.2d 50 (Utah 1978); Bowen v. Olsen, 576 P.2d 862 (Utah 1978); Stubbs v. Hemmert, 567 P.2d 168 (Utah 1977); Neely v. Kelsch, 600 P.2d 979 (Utah 1979). This estops Flying Diamond from now attempting to claim the full 2 1/2 percent payment contained in the Surface Agreement (Exhibit 1).

The trial court was clearly correct in concluding that Flying Diamond was estopped to deny the Newton/Bass interests and to claim the full 2 1/2 percent payment.

POINT IV

APPELLANTS MAY NOT CLAIM ESTOPPEL BY DEED TO CLAIM THE FULL 2 1/2 PERCENT PAYMENT INTEREST.

The appellants, Flying Diamond, attempt to invoke the concept of estoppel by deed in their favor by asserting that Newton may not deny the Surface Agreement. The doctrine has no application in the context of this case. The Surface Agreement (Exhibit 1, R. 476) goes no further than its own terms. It applies only to insure the respective signatories obtain that for which they bargained. It grants no further rights or interests than are contained within its provisions. Newton has always maintained the 2 1/2 percent payment was one it held personally and had the privilege to alienate. Indeed, Flying Diamond was aware of the Surface Agreement, the deed from Newton to Bass, and the fact that Newton and Bass believed that one-half of the 2 1/2 percent had been transferred by Newton to Bass (T. 61-65). Flying Diamond was also aware of the fact that Newton believed they retained a one-half interest in the 2 1/2 percent payment and that Newton wanted to retain one-half of the interest they held when Newton transferred the surface and some royalty interest to Flying Diamond. The same language

on the royalty interest was used in the Flying Diamond contract as was used in the Newton/Bass deed thus showing that Flying Diamond recognized the Newton/Bass interest. Newton does not deny Champlin's right to use the surface, nor does it deny Champlin may make the royalty interest payment in accord with the Surface Agreement. What is at issue is the relationship and claims of ownership to the 2 1/2 percent proceeds after paid, as between Bass/Newton and Flying Diamond. Thus, the facts raise no issue for the doctrine of estoppel by deed. It is well established that estoppel by deed is not applicable where the parties are aware of all the facts. Ketchum Coal Co. v. Pleasant Valley Const. Co., 50 Utah 395, 168 P. 86 (1917); Rogers v. Donnellan, 11 Utah 108, 39 P. 474 (1975); Arizona Central Credit Union v. Holden, 6 Ariz.App. 310, 432 P.2d 276 (1967). 28 Am Jur. 2d, Estoppel and Waiver, § 5 notes:

Moreover, it has been held that if the party claiming the benefit of the estoppel has not been misled by the other party's deed, or recital therein, no estoppel exists.

Further, the appellant appears to be claiming estoppel against Newton and its privy Bass (although Flying Diamond is also in privy with Newton on the Ranch Contract but not with Bass). The contract between Flying Diamond and Newton conveyed what Flying Diamond bargained for. It did not purport to convey more than what Flying Diamond actually received. Thus, Newton

is not estopped to deny it conveyed more than it did. Flying Diamond is trying to use estoppel to exceed the terms of the Ranch Contract. This it cannot do.

As to any claim of estoppel drawn from the Surface Agreement, there is no basis for estoppel by deed. Estoppel is not applicable where the deed is unclear as to the actual conveyance. Colman v. Butkovich, 556 P.2d 503 (Utah 1976). The doctrine of estoppel by deed cannot enlarge the conveyance itself. "To constitute an estoppel by deed, a distinct precise assertion or admission of a fact is necessary. Hence, estoppel by deed or similar instrument can arise only where a party has conveyed a precise or definite legal estate or right by a solemn assurance which he will not be permitted to vary or to deny. Such estoppel should be certain to every intent." 28 Am. Jur. 2d, Estoppel and Waiver, § 5. See Dowse v. Kammerman, 122 Utah 85, 246 P.2d 381 (1952). It is also submitted that the Surface Agreement between Newton and Champlin is not a deed but a contract and the concept of estoppel by deed is not strictly applicable. Under the circumstances of this case, estoppel by deed is not applicable. Here the actual relationship is as to the interests of each party to the 2 1/2 percent payment arising after the Surface Agreement. The doctrine of estoppel by deed applies to one who is in direct legal relationship to the grantor. Flying Diamond's

relationship is direct only to Newton not Champlin. The contract from Newton to Flying Diamond, drafted by Flying Diamond, expressly acknowledged the respondent's interests. The concept of estoppel by deed in favor of Flying Diamond is not conceptually compatible with the facts of this case.

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT USE PAROL EVIDENCE TO ALTER THE TERMS OF ANY INTEGRATED AGREEMENT RELEVANT TO THE LITIGATION AND APPELLANTS HAVE WAIVED ANY CHALLENGE TO THE RECEIPT OF PAROL EVIDENCE BY AFFIRMATIVELY USING SUCH EVIDENCE.

Newton submits that the appellant's contention that the trial court erred in admitting extrinsic evidence on the intent of the parties is not well taken. First, it should be noted that appellant does not identify the objectionable evidence or show how the trial court misused the evidence. Indeed, there is no evidence that the trial court gave any consideration to extrinsic evidence to alter any integrated writing. The appellant asserts extrinsic evidence was admitted on the Surface Owner's Agreement (App. Brief p. 27). An examination of the trial court's findings of fact show that the court did not consider any such evidence or reference such evidence in the findings of fact. The only reference to intent in the findings of fact refers to the intention in the Newton/Bass agreement and the Flying Diamond/Newton Ranch contract (R. 428 ¶6, 9). Therefore, appellants have not raised a true issue.

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